
02/02/06 
10:59 AM 

 
 

GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION  
COMMITTEE MEETING 

 
February 8, 2006 
State Investment Board 
2100 Evergreen Park Drive SW, Suite 100 

 Olympia, Washington 
2:00 pm – 4:00 pm 
 

AGENDA 
 

Call to Order  
 

• Approval of August 3, 2005 minutes     ACTION   Tab 1 
• Approval of updated Bylaws      ACTION 
 
• Director’s report        INFORMATION   

Legislative update 
Budget update 

 
• GET marketing update       INFORMATION 

Wendy Dore 
The Marketing Partners  
 

• GET investment update       INFORMATION  Tab 2  
Gary Bruebaker, Investment Officer 
Washington State Investment Board 
 

• GET Scholarship Policy for the GEAR-UP    ACTION   Tab 3 
Program 

 
• Possible executive session 

May be held for any of the purposes set forth in RCW 42.30.110 
 

• Action items, if any, made necessary by executive session 
 

• Adjournment of regular meeting 
 

Next Regular GET Committee Meeting, April 19, 2006, 2:00 – 4:00 p.m. 
State Investment Board, 2100 Evergreen Park Drive SW, Olympia, WA 



GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION COMMITTEE MEETING 
Tuesday, August 2, 2005 
State Investment Board 

2100 Evergreen Park Drive SW, Suite 100 
Olympia, WA 

 
MINUTES 

 
HECB Staff in attendance: Guests in attendance: 
Betty Lochner, GET Director Diana Will, State Investment Board 
Larry Lee, GET Deputy Director Howard Fischer, Office of the Attorney General 
Denise Fry, GET Outreach Manager Bill Reimert, Milliman (via teleconference) 
Heidi Arneson, GET Finance Manager Cathy Stevens, The Marketing Partners 
Heidi Jones, GET Process Analyst & Rules Manager Wendy Dore, The Marketing Partners 
Debra Blodgett, Special Assistant to the GET Director Heather Lewis-Lechner, Senate staff 
Samina Occhino, GET Receptionist Michelle Stender, Senate Republican Caucus  
 Jenny Fuller, State Investment Board 
 
WELCOME 
GET Committee chair Jim Sulton called the meeting to order at 2:00 pm.  Other committee 
members in attendance included Darrel Jensen, serving as a designee for Michael J. Murphy, 
State Treasurer, Victor Moore, Director of OFM, Beth Stecher Berendt, citizen member, Mooi 
Lien Wong, citizen member. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
The minutes from the April 19, 2005 GET Committee Meeting were reviewed.  A motion 
was made by Berendt to adopt the minutes as presented and was seconded by Wong.  The 
motion was approved and passed unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF 2006 MEETING CALENDAR 
The 2006 GET Committee Meeting calendar was presented to the committee for review.  A 
motion was made by Berendt to approve the proposed meeting dates.  The motion was 
seconded by Wong.  The motion was approved and passed unanimously.  Regular 2006 
meeting dates are February 8, April 19 and August 9. 
 
GET INVESTMENT UPDATE 
Sulton introduced DianaWill, investment officer, from the State Investment Board to give the 
GET investment update. GET assets increased by $56.2 million in the second quarter, compared 
to an increase of $32 million in the first quarter.  New assets consisted of new contributions of 
$45.9 million and market returns of $10.3 million.  Participants added $99.3 million in 
contributions during the fiscal year that ended June 30, 2005.  Total returns for the GET  
Program for the quarter were 1.97 percent, a little lower than the benchmark of 2.02 percent.  For 
the fiscal year, the return of 10.07 percent matched the benchmark and surpassed the absolute 
return needed based on actuarial assumptions.  While since-inception returns of 6.40 percent last 
quarter exceeded both the benchmark 6.32 percent, and the return of 6.33 percent from the first 
quarter, they fell short of the absolute return of 7.5 percent needed by the program.  Total returns 
for the month of July were 1.5 percent.  Equity returns have matched or surpassed the benchmark 
in all five timeframes reported (quarter, one, three and five years, and since inception), with one 



Guaranteed Education Tuition Committee Meeting 
August 2, 2005 

Page 2 of 5 
exception, TIPS have slightly trailed the benchmark across the same timeframes. With the 
current interest rate and economic environment, it is expected that returns will continue to 
fluctuate from the benchmark. TIPS have underperformed the benchmark by just one basis point 
since inception.   
 
DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
Betty Lochner, GET Director, gave the committee some annual statistics from the 2004-05 
enrollment year, which ended March 31, 2005.  A total of 11,028 new accounts were opened, 
bringing the total of GET accounts opened since inception to 55,184.  The total number of 
students who have used their GET benefits is 3,611.  Most GET students are using their GET 
units at Washington public colleges and universities. About 24% of those students attended the 
University of Washington; 15% attended WSU, 15% at WWU; 15% at Community and technical 
colleges statewide and the remaining at other regional universities, private universities and 
colleges and universities out of state (nationwide).  There are more than 6,000 students who will 
be eligible to use benefits in fall 2006, which is about twice the number of students we had 
eligible last year.  Enrollment in custom monthly contracts is up significantly from last year.  The 
way in which customers hear about GET is overwhelmingly by word of mouth through our 
outreach efforts.  GET has participants in every county in the state. As expected, the more 
populated counties carry the most contracts. Outreach participated in 66 separate activities this 
year.  Next year, there are already 30 activities on the calendar including fairs and miscellaneous 
events.  Payroll deduction continues to expand, making payment options easier for more 
families.   
 
The national College Savings Plan Network (CSPN) Conference was attended by GET staff in 
conjunction with the NAST Northeast regional meeting.  Much of the time was spent talking 
with other states’ prepaid programs.  Right now there are 20 prepaid states, two of which are 
closed, three are not open to new accounts, and one added a second entirely different plan.  
Federal updates were given on the Higher Education Act and the treatment of financial aid.  
Currently, money in a prepaid program is treated differently than if it is in a savings plan.  There 
is a lot of effort being placed on the moving of the sunset for the tax exemption.  A consortium 
meeting was also attended with other states regarding the maintenance of our software database 
system.  GET continues to be on the cutting edge of technology to include on-line enrollment.  
GET is still the fastest growing prepaid program in the country.   
 
Sulton asked why other state prepaid programs are shutting down or suspending enrollments.  
Lochner explained that most are hoping to reopen.  New Mexico closed their prepaid program in 
2005 and rolled participants into their savings plan. Other states are dealing with unlimited 
tuition setting authority being given to colleges, while others are dealing with unexpected tuition 
increases.   
 
Moore asked if foundations and scholarship funds can buy GET units.  Lochner explained that 
GET currently offers scholarship accounts to non-profit organizations, which allows the purchase 
of more units than individual accounts, and for a student to be named at the time of use instead of 
at the time of opening the account. 
 
 
 



Guaranteed Education Tuition Committee Meeting 
August 2, 2005 

Page 3 of 5 
MARKETING UPDATE: 
Wendy Dore of The Marketing Partners presented the GET marketing update.  Dore began by 
showing a draft of the television commercial, which will be filmed in November. It will be 
focusing on a younger audience.   The new commercial will be rotated with two-three existing 
commercials. 
 
Cathy Stevens of The Marketing Partners, presented the remainder of the GET marketing update.  
The marketing campaign for this year is very similar to what we’ve done in the past.  The 
television campaign will run January through March along with some radio and outdoor boards.  
Beginning September 15th, the radio schedule will be in all major markets in Washington State.  
The target market continues to be women ages 25-49 who have children that are infants through 
14 years of age. The primary target household income is $50,000 and above.  The goal is to 
reach 60 percent of the market.  The budget is $142,000 for radio and print.  We will be taking 
advantage of public service announcements, bonus spots, taking GET brochures to activities, etc.  
All radio stations will provide a link to the GET Program and interviews will be done through 
the kickoff.   
 
Moore asked how we might expand our target marketing to include the low income and other 
ethnic populations.   Stevens explained that they will be picking up some of the ethnic 
newspapers and radio stations to expand our current target market. 
 
REVIEW OF PROPOSED WAC CHANGES 
Larry Lee, GET Deputy Director, presented the committee with proposed changes to the Title 14 
Washington Administrative Code (WAC) that covers the GET Program.  Lee explained that the 
GET Program’s WAC have remained unchanged since the inception of the GET Program.  All 
proposed changes are technical in nature. They include: removal of the requirement for regular 
meetings to be “semi-annual”; a change in the regular meeting location (from the Capitol campus 
to WSIB); the new physical address of the GET Office; referencing the more commonly used 
“GET Committee” title (instead of Committee on Advanced Tuition Payment); clarification of 
purchaser that is defined by RCW and some minor grammatical changes.  The proposed updates 
and changes to the current WAC will be filed with the expedited rule process pending approval 
from the committee.   
 
Moore questioned the GET office hours listed and the term “legal holidays”.  He asked if the 
word “legal” should be taken out.  Howard Fischer, from the Office of the Attorney General, 
explained that the word “legal” is statutory and should stay as is.  
 
A motion was made by Moore to accept the changes to the Title 14 WAC as presented.  The 
motion was seconded by Berendt.  The motion was approved and passed unanimously. 
 
GET VENDOR SELECTION PROCESS 
Lee reviewed the statutory requirement that the GET Program use a “nationally recognized 
actuarial firm” to provide an annual actuarial analysis and recommendations for setting the GET 
unit price. The Program has contracted for these services with Milliman since 1998, originally 
through a competitive RFP process. The current contract with Milliman runs from January 1, 
2004 to December 31, 2005 and allows for two, 2-year extensions. The initial two-year portion 



Guaranteed Education Tuition Committee Meeting 
August 2, 2005 

Page 4 of 5 
of the contract will end on December 31, 2005.  Staff recommends continuing the contract for 
the next two years, which would begin January, 1 2006 and end December 31, 2007, with the 
possibility of one additional 2-year extension at the discretion of the committee.   
 
A motion was made by Wong to accept the staff recommendation to approve the two-year 
extension to the actuary contract with Milliman.  The motion was seconded by Moore.   
The motion was approved and passed unanimously. 
 
 
ACTUARIAL ANALYSIS AND UNIT PRICE SETTING 
Bill Reimert, of Milliman, joined the meeting via teleconference to address annual unit pricing.  
Lochner reminded the committee of the proposal made at the April GET Committee Meeting of 
a two-tiered price increase based on Milliman’s recommendation. Their recommendation was to 
increase the unit price from $61 to $66 for sales between May 1, 2005 and August 31, 2005, and 
then to increase the unit price for $66 to $68 for the enrollment period beginning September 15, 
2005 and ending March 31, 2006.  The committee voted to approve the $66 unit price through 
August 31, but chose to delay a decision on an additional increase until the August meeting.  
This was to allow for review of any potential changes in the assumptions.  Since no significant 
changes have taken place since the materials were presented in April, the staff recommendation 
remains the same.  Staff is recommending an increase to $68 per unit from September 1, 2005 
through March 31, 2006. 
 
Moore asked if the assumption on earnings had been lowered to 6 percent.  Reimert confirmed 
that the assumption had been lowered for the prices set at the April GET Committee Meeting.  
He explained that the change was to reflect the State Investment Board’s capital market 
assumptions.  These assumptions were adopted in the spring and reflect the GET Program asset 
allocation policy. 
 
Moore asked Reimert to explain the relationship between the earnings assumption and the size of 
the reserve, which is there to guard against changes in earnings assumptions and unexpected 
tuition increases.  He is on record for supporting a 7.5 percent reserve and he’s wondering if this 
position could be supported because the earnings assumption was lowered to 6 percent. 
 
Reimert explained that the reserve is to buffer a shortfall that may occur in earnings assumptions 
and to buffer any tuition increases that may go above the 7 percent assumption.   
 
Sulton explained that the HECB also has a policy issue as well because of the master plan 
stipulating that tuition should be held to 7 percent increases per year on average.  This year it 
was held to that.   
 
Jensen reminded the committee that we are currently sitting at a 20 percent premium with the 
$66 unit price.  Going up to $68 per unit would bring the premium up to 23.5 percent.  We also 
had a reserve of $21 million, which represented 4.5 percent of assets as of June 30, 2004.  That 
reserve has since increased and now stands at 7.8 percent.  He feels we should keep the price as 
low as we possibly can.  He would prefer not to increase the price to $68.    
 



Guaranteed Education Tuition Committee Meeting 
August 2, 2005 

Page 5 of 5 
Reimert explained numerous scenarios in which obligations would or would not be met based on 
the amount of the stabilization reserve.  He indicated that the 7.9 percent current stabilization 
reserve is a significant improvement over last year.  Jensen asked how other states compare in 
terms of stabilization reserve.  Lochner explained that all three program actuaries across the 
country were shooting for a 10 percent stabilization reserve.  Most state prepaid programs are 
funded below 100 percent and so are operating with a deficit.  Two states are funded at 100 
percent.  There are only five states that are funded above 100 percent, meaning that they have a 
reserve.  We are funded at 107.9 percent. 
 
Berendt went on record as supporting a 10 percent reserve.  She explained that while we have 
had a successful year, we need to be aware of the impacts of missing any of our targets as 
enrollment grows.  She finds it unacceptable to not have adequate reserves. If those obligations 
are not met and state has to step in, other essential programs would suffer.  She would not want 
to contribute to a potential budgetary crisis.  Berendt reminded the committee of the instance 
where the program has been put into a deficit due to lack of adequate reserve.  She feels it would 
be unwise to continue without a reserve of at least 10 percent and supports increasing the unit 
price to $68 per unit. 
 
Moore explained that he felt it is important to keep a balance between the reserve and making 
units as affordable as possible.  He also believed that part of our pricing strategy should be to 
address potential low income purchasers.  The committee was being conservative by lowering 
the earnings assumptions.  The fact that the legislature has gone on record with moderate tuition 
rate increases also kept the short-term risks of rising tuition fairly low.  He was trying to strike a 
balance between price and risk.   
 
Wong expressed her support of building the stabilization reserve to 10 percent.  She also agreed 
with Berendt that even though the state is behind the program, we do need to keep this a self 
sustaining program. The people that we are trying to target are not really buying GET for 
investment purposes.  The idea is to be able to help people to put aside money that they 
otherwise wouldn’t accumulate on their own.  People are getting used to the idea that prices are 
going up.  Wong believed we would still get the sales even at $68. 
 
Sulton was reluctant to go against the advice of experts.  However, he couldn’t get past the 
significant support from the legislature to keep tuition low and the concern for low income 
students not being able to buy GET.  There was much discussion regarding low income students 
and keeping a balance between affordability and reaching a 10 percent stabilization reserve. 
 
There was a motion made by Berendt to raise the unit price to $68 per unit for the new 
enrollment year.  The motion was seconded by Wong.  The motion was opposed by Jensen, 
Moore and Sulton.  The motion failed.   Since the motion failed, the unit price will remain 
at $66 through April 30, 2006. 
 
Wong made a motion to adjourn, Moore seconded the motion.  
 
The meeting was adjourned at 3:09 p.m. 
 



 
 
Higher Education Coordinating Board - Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee 
 

Proposed Changes to the GET Committee Bylaws  
 

                                           February 8, 2006 
 
Background 
In 1998, the Committee developed and approved the Bylaws for the Program.  In 2001, the 
Committee updated the Bylaws to reflect certain program changes.  The Bylaws are due for some 
technical clean-up. 
 
Current Information  
The Bylaws currently state that the program is located at 1603 Cooper Point Road, Olympia, WA 
98504. 
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends updating the bylaws to reflect the program’s current address to 919 Lakeridge 
Way SW, Olympia WA 98502 and to correct other minor grammatical errors. 
 

  
 
NOTE:  Draft Bylaws are attached 



 

GET Prepaid College Tuition Program 
Quarterly Report – December 31, 2005 

 

 

Portfolio Size, Allocation, and Assets Under Management ............................................. 1 

Performance .................................................................................................................. 2 

 

 
Dated:  January 24, 2006 

 

 

   
   
   

 

Washington State Investment Board 



Portfolio Size 

Total $599,280,787

Cash 2,218,417

Treasury Inflation Index Note  (TIPS) 236,904,886

U.S. Equity 233,973,206

Non-U.S. Equity 126,184,278

Assets Under Management

Actual Asset Allocation

Quarter Ended December 31, 2005

          GET Prepaid College Tuition Program

0.
5 

7.
0 

12
.3

 

45
.9

 

37
.4

 

33
.5

 

11
.9

 

7.
8 

43
.8

 

39
.4

 

7.
5 

43
.4

 

29
.7

 

6.
2 

7.
4 

8.
4 

6.
4 

34
.5

 

7.
7 

7.
0 

20
.3

 

2.
6 

3.
3 

3.
3 

3.
5 

2.
5 

8.
3 

7.
5 

4.
4 

1.
7 

416

201

33135

61
40

5146 57 60 63 73 82 89

150
165

272
288

373
405

459
492

548
577

599

326

116

76

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Se
p-

98

Dec
-9

8

M
ar

-9
9

Ju
n-

99

Se
p-

99

Dec
-9

9

M
ar

-0
0

Ju
n-

00

Se
p-

00

Dec
-0

0

M
ar

-0
1

Ju
n-

01

Se
p-

01

Dec
-0

1

M
ar

-0
2

Ju
n-

02

Se
p-

02

Dec
-0

2

M
ar

-0
3

Ju
n-

03

Se
p-

03

Dec
-0

3

M
ar

-0
4

Ju
n-

04

Se
p-

04

Dec
-0

4

M
ar

-0
5

Ju
n-

05

Se
p-

05

Dec
-0

5

A
ss

e
t 

S
iz

e
 i
n

 M
il
li
o
n

s

0

10

20

30

40

50

60
C

o
n

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

s 
in

 M
il
li
o

n
sContributions Growth of Assets

Cash
0.4%Non-U.S. 

Equity
21.1%

U.S. Equity
39.0%

TIPS
39.5%

45%35%

5%

40%

16% 20% 24%

35% 40%

50%5% 10%

TIPs

15% 20% 25% 30% 35% 40%0%

U.S. Equity

Non-U.S. Equity

Cash

45%

45%

Range

Target

12/31/05

12/31/04

Page 1 of 2



Total Return *

Return Breakdown

Equity Return *

Treasury Inflation Index Note Return *

          GET Prepaid College Tuition Program

Quarter Ended December 31, 2005

*  The return numbers above are net of manager fees and other expenses that can be directly debited from the account for portfolio 
management but do not include the WSIB management fee.  Inception date is when the WSIB first invested in the asset class.

4.08%
2.80%

9.22%

19.03%

3.12% 3.91%2.82%

9.10%

19.01%

3.09%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

4h Qtr 2005 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year Since Inception
3/1/99

Equity

Benchmark - DJ Wilshire 5000 and MSCI EAFE + Canada weighted to the policy's target
(currently 66⅔% and 33⅓%)

6.69%

2.93%
0.15%

8.49% 8.41%
6.54%

2.84%
0.11%

8.54% 8.39%

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

4h Qtr 2005 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year Since Inception
3/1/99

Treasury Inflation Index Note

Benchmark - Lehman Custom TIPS Index

7.
07

%
 

7.
37

%
 

7.
50

%
 

1.
75

%
 

6.
77

%
 

6.
76

%
 

13
.9

2%
 

6.
67

%
 

6.
76

%
 

14
.0

4%
 

1.
74

%
 

6.
68

%
 7

.9
0%

 

0.
70

%
 

7.
15

%
 

7.
01

%
 

1.
82

%
 

7.
50

%
 

7.
50

%
 

7.
50

%
 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

4h Qtr 2005 1 Year 3 Year 5 Year Since Inception
9/30/98

GET - College Tuition Program Passive Benchmark CPI (inflation) + 4.5% Absolute Return

Page 2 of 2



Higher Education Coordinating Board - Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Committee 

GEAR UP Scholars Project Master Scholarship Account Policy 
 
                                           February 8, 2006 
 
Background 
The Washington State GEAR UP Program is a partnership of the Office of the Governor, the 
Washington Higher Education Coordinating Board (HECB), University of Washington, and the 
Washington Education Foundation.  The goal of the Scholars Project is to significantly increase 
the number of low-income students who are prepared to enter and succeed in postsecondary 
education.   
 
HECB administers the GEAR UP Scholars Project, which provides comprehensive academic 
services and support to 1,000 low-income seventh graders following them through high school 
graduation.  Priority students are selected from communities across the state with high 
free/reduced lunch rates or who attend Title I schools, with priority given to schools not meeting 
the “No Child Left Behind” standards.  The project will increase the students’ academic 
performance, prepare them for college and increase students’ and their families’ knowledge of 
college options, preparation, and financing. Scholars Project students will be eligible to earn a 
scholarship.   
 
The Scholars Project sets aside $600,000 of its federal funding each year for scholarships.  At the 
end of the six year project, GEAR UP will have $3,600,000 to award students and to cover 
administrative fees for the ongoing management of the scholarship funds for as long as a student 
is accessing the scholarship.  Students receive the GEAR UP scholarship for meeting 
benchmarks during their six years of participation.   
 
GEAR UP requests the federal funds for scholarships between March 1-May 31 each year and is 
required to transfer the scholarship funds to another entity within three days of receiving them.  
An entity other than GEAR UP must administer the scholarship funds. 
 
GEAR UP has determined that approximately 600-800 students will be named at the end of the 
six year project, to receive a scholarship. 
 
GEAR UP believes the Guaranteed Education Tuition (GET) Program offers the most efficient 
administrative structure to best serve their students. GET guarantees that the units purchased will 
keep pace with rising college tuition at the highest priced Washington public college.   
 
Current Information 
The GET Program allows for Qualified 501(c) (3) non-profit organizations and state or local 
government entities to establish a Master Scholarship Account, in which a student beneficiary is 
not named at the time of enrollment.   
 
 
 
 



The current Master Scholarship Account Policy allows an Organization to purchase up to 5,000 
lump sum units per Master Scholarship Account.  The Organization pays a one-time, $100 non-
refundable enrollment fee, plus a $25 transfer fee per student, once a student beneficiary is 
identified.   The one-time $100 non-refundable enrollment fee and subsequent $25 transfer fee 
per individual student account is to cover the initial set up of the account and ongoing account 
administration for as long as the student is using the units.   
 
Once a student beneficiary is named the Authorized Representative of the Organization 
completes a Transfer Request Form, which notifies the Program to establish an individual 
student account for the named beneficiary including the amount of funds to transfer from the 
Master Scholarship Account to the individual student account.  The Organization can also choose 
to retain ownership of the individual student account or to transfer ownership to the student or 
the student’s parent/guardian.   
 
Recommendation 
Staff recommends the GET Program establish a special Master Scholarship Account Policy for 
the GEAR UP Scholars Project that allows for special considerations as follows:  A proposed 
GEAR UP Scholars Project Master Scholarship Account Policy is attached (Attachment A).   
 

• Waive the one-time $100 non-refundable enrollment fee per Master Scholarship Account 
and $25 transfer fee per individual student account and charge an annual non-refundable 
administrative fee of three percent of the yearly contributions ($18,000 per year). 

-  The administrative fee is a standard calculation charged by state organizations in 
Washington. 

-  The fee would cover the cost of administering future distributions for each 
scholarship recipient for as long as they have units. 

-  Allows for the management of administrative fees in a more efficient manner.    
 
• Allow a total of 50,000 units in the one Master Scholarship Account.   

-  GEAR UP will deposit $600,000 in March 2006 and each year from March 2007-
March 2011.  Each year, $18,000 will be allocated for administrative fees and the 
remaining $582,000 will purchase lump sum units at the cost per unit applicable to 
the specific purchase year. 

 
• Extend the enrollment deadline to April 30, 2006 for GEAR UP to open the Master 

Scholarship Account.   
-  GEAR UP is required to request the federal funds from March 1-May 31 annually 

and deposit the funds within three days of receipt of the funds.  Due to timing of the 
receipt of funds, there is a possibility the opening of the account may occur after the 
standard March 31 enrollment deadline but before the April 30 price deadline.   



 

Attachment A 
 

PROPOSED 
GEAR UP Master Scholarship Account Policy 

 
The GEAR UP Scholars Project receives $600,000 annually in federal funds to be allocated for 
scholarships to students who have met specific benchmarks.  The scholarships will be awarded to 
approximately 600-800 students during the six year project.  The GEAR UP Scholars Project 
will make deposits of $600,000 annually for six years and purchase lump sum units at the price 
in effect at the time of the purchase. 
 
Criteria: 

• GEAR UP Scholars Project may open one Lump Sum Master Scholarship Account beginning 
with the 2005-2006 enrollment period.  The Master Scholarship account will be subject to 
approval by the GET Director and is subject to all policies and procedures as outlined in  
RCW 28B.95 and the GET Master Agreement, except as outlined in this policy. 

 
• No more than 50,000 lump sum units may be purchased and distributed in total from the Master 

Scholarship Account.   
 
• A non-refundable administration fee of three percent will be required of each annual 

contribution at the time of the deposit of funds into the Master Scholarship Account. 
 
• No more than 500 units may be awarded in a scholarship to any one beneficiary.   If a beneficiary 

is named under another GET account, the aggregate of the accounts cannot exceed 500 units. 
 

• Student Beneficiaries do not need to be identified until GEAR UP is prepared to award a 
scholarship and no later than four months before the date the student will begin using units. 
(RCW 28B.95.040). 

 
Designating a Beneficiary: 

• After a Student Beneficiary is identified, the Authorized Representative of GEAR UP completes a 
Master Scholarship Transfer Form to move funds into an individual account for the Student 
Beneficiary.   

 
• Lump Sum units must be held in the GEAR UP Master Scholarship Account a minimum of two 

calendar years before any transfers are allowed.   
 

Committee Members           
           
James E. Sulton, Jr., Ph.D.     Michael J. Murphy   Victor Moore   
Executive Director, Higher Education Coordinating Board  State Treasurer   Director, Office of Financial Management 
          
Elizabeth Stecher Berendt Mooi Lien Wong 
Citizen Member 

     
  

Citizen Member 
  

The GET Program is administered by the Higher Education Coordinating Board 

 



GEAR UP Master Scholarship Account Policy - Continued 

• GEAR UP must remain the account owner of the individual student accounts.  In the event GEAR 
UP is no longer an active project, account ownership will be administered by the Higher 
Education Coordinating Board (HECB).   

 
Managing Payment Requests: 

• The Authorized Representative of GEAR UP or the HECB must ensure the benefit use forms for 
any awarded students are completed each term throughout an academic year, before any 
distribution may be made to a school.   

 
• Distributions will be allowed for qualified education expenses paid to an eligible institution of 

higher education: tuition, fees, room and board.   
 

• At the request of the Authorized Representative of GEAR UP or the HECB, any unused units will 
be transferred back to the GEAR UP Master Scholarship Account. 

 
 
For More Information or Assistance: 
Contact Customer Service at 1-877-438-8848 or email GETInfo@hecb.wa.gov. 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

 
 
 

GEAR UP Master Scholarship Policy.doc 

  
 


	GUARANTEED EDUCATION TUITION
	COMMITTEE MEETING
	February 8, 2006

	AGENDA
	May be held for any of the purposes set forth in RCW 42.30.1
	Action items, if any, made necessary by executive session


	GET Committee Minutes 08-02-05_1.pdf
	WELCOME
	APPROVAL OF MINUTES



<<
  /ASCII85EncodePages false
  /AllowTransparency false
  /AutoPositionEPSFiles true
  /AutoRotatePages /None
  /Binding /Left
  /CalGrayProfile (Dot Gain 20%)
  /CalRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CalCMYKProfile (U.S. Web Coated \050SWOP\051 v2)
  /sRGBProfile (sRGB IEC61966-2.1)
  /CannotEmbedFontPolicy /Error
  /CompatibilityLevel 1.4
  /CompressObjects /Tags
  /CompressPages true
  /ConvertImagesToIndexed true
  /PassThroughJPEGImages true
  /CreateJDFFile false
  /CreateJobTicket false
  /DefaultRenderingIntent /Default
  /DetectBlends true
  /ColorConversionStrategy /LeaveColorUnchanged
  /DoThumbnails false
  /EmbedAllFonts true
  /EmbedJobOptions true
  /DSCReportingLevel 0
  /EmitDSCWarnings false
  /EndPage -1
  /ImageMemory 1048576
  /LockDistillerParams false
  /MaxSubsetPct 100
  /Optimize true
  /OPM 1
  /ParseDSCComments true
  /ParseDSCCommentsForDocInfo true
  /PreserveCopyPage true
  /PreserveEPSInfo true
  /PreserveHalftoneInfo false
  /PreserveOPIComments false
  /PreserveOverprintSettings true
  /StartPage 1
  /SubsetFonts true
  /TransferFunctionInfo /Apply
  /UCRandBGInfo /Preserve
  /UsePrologue false
  /ColorSettingsFile ()
  /AlwaysEmbed [ true
  ]
  /NeverEmbed [ true
  ]
  /AntiAliasColorImages false
  /DownsampleColorImages true
  /ColorImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /ColorImageResolution 300
  /ColorImageDepth -1
  /ColorImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeColorImages true
  /ColorImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterColorImages true
  /ColorImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /ColorACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /ColorImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000ColorImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasGrayImages false
  /DownsampleGrayImages true
  /GrayImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /GrayImageResolution 300
  /GrayImageDepth -1
  /GrayImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeGrayImages true
  /GrayImageFilter /DCTEncode
  /AutoFilterGrayImages true
  /GrayImageAutoFilterStrategy /JPEG
  /GrayACSImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /GrayImageDict <<
    /QFactor 0.15
    /HSamples [1 1 1 1] /VSamples [1 1 1 1]
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayACSImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /JPEG2000GrayImageDict <<
    /TileWidth 256
    /TileHeight 256
    /Quality 30
  >>
  /AntiAliasMonoImages false
  /DownsampleMonoImages true
  /MonoImageDownsampleType /Bicubic
  /MonoImageResolution 1200
  /MonoImageDepth -1
  /MonoImageDownsampleThreshold 1.50000
  /EncodeMonoImages true
  /MonoImageFilter /CCITTFaxEncode
  /MonoImageDict <<
    /K -1
  >>
  /AllowPSXObjects false
  /PDFX1aCheck false
  /PDFX3Check false
  /PDFXCompliantPDFOnly false
  /PDFXNoTrimBoxError true
  /PDFXTrimBoxToMediaBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXSetBleedBoxToMediaBox true
  /PDFXBleedBoxToTrimBoxOffset [
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
    0.00000
  ]
  /PDFXOutputIntentProfile ()
  /PDFXOutputCondition ()
  /PDFXRegistryName (http://www.color.org)
  /PDFXTrapped /Unknown

  /Description <<
    /ENU (Use these settings to create PDF documents with higher image resolution for high quality pre-press printing. The PDF documents can be opened with Acrobat and Reader 5.0 and later. These settings require font embedding.)
    /JPN <FEFF3053306e8a2d5b9a306f30019ad889e350cf5ea6753b50cf3092542b308030d730ea30d730ec30b9537052377528306e00200050004400460020658766f830924f5c62103059308b3068304d306b4f7f75283057307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a30674f5c62103057305f00200050004400460020658766f8306f0020004100630072006f0062006100740020304a30883073002000520065006100640065007200200035002e003000204ee5964d30678868793a3067304d307e305930023053306e8a2d5b9a306b306f30d530a930f330c8306e57cb30818fbc307f304c5fc59808306730593002>
    /FRA <>
    /DEU <>
    /PTB <>
    /DAN <>
    /NLD <>
    /ESP <>
    /SUO <>
    /ITA <>
    /NOR <>
    /SVE <>
  >>
>> setdistillerparams
<<
  /HWResolution [2400 2400]
  /PageSize [612.000 792.000]
>> setpagedevice




